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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

       
      ) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 

) 09-CR-335 (RJL) 
)    

           v. )  Judge Richard J. Leon 
 )    

)  
PANKESH PATEL,    ) 
JOHN B. WIER, III, )    
ANDREW BIGELOW, ) 
LEE ALLEN TOLLESON ) 
 )     
__________________________________ ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ PROPOSED VOIR DIRE QUESTIONS 
 

Defendants Pankesh Patel, John B. Wier, III, Andrew Bigelow, and Lee Allen Tolleson, by 

and through their undersigned attorney of record, jointly submit the following proposed voir dire 

questions to be asked of the potential jurors during the jury selection process in the trial of the 

above-captioned matter, scheduled to begin on May 12, 2011.  The defendants reserve the right to 

supplement these questions and conduct additional voir dire of individual jurors where appropriate. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
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Criminal Trial 

 This is a criminal case and the defendants in this case have been charged by way of an 

indictment.   An indictment is just the formal way of informing a defendant of the nature of the 

charges against him.  You are not to consider the indictment as any indication of guilt.  In a criminal 

trial, every defendant is presumed to be innocent; this presumption remains with him throughout the 

trial, unless and until he is proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.  The burden of proving him 

guilty beyond a reasonable doubt rests with the government, the prosecutor, and the burden never 

shifts during the course of a trial; a defendant need not prove his innocence or produce any 

evidence nor testify.  Those principles of law will underlie the trial of this case.  

1. The jury will be instructed that the defendant is to be presumed innocent throughout 

the trial and that no defendant can be found guilty of any offense unless and until the government 

has proven each element of that offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Would you find it difficult for 

any reason to obey that instruction? 

2. The jury will be instructed that in a criminal case the burden of proof is always on the 

government; that no defendant is under any obligation to present any evidence; and that no 

inference or suggestion of guilt can be drawn against any defendant if he elects not to testify or 

present evidence. Would you find it difficult for any reason to obey that instruction? 

3. A defendant has a constitutional right not to testify, and, if a defendant chooses not to 

testify, that fact cannot be used against that defendant.  In addition, a defendant need not call any 

witnesses or produce any evidence whatsoever.  The burden is always on the government to prove 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.  Unless the government meets this burden, a defendant must be 

acquitted.  Is there anyone who cannot abide by this? 
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4. The jury will be instructed that throughout the proceedings in this case, you are not to 

discuss the case among yourselves or with anyone else, and that will include an instruction that you 

may not discuss the case with your family or communicate on the internet through e-mail, instant 

messaging, a blog, a website, or a chat room, or “twitter” about what takes place in this courtroom.  

The reason for this is that your consideration of the case must be based solely on the testimony that 

you have heard and the evidence that has been introduced and not on the opinions of those not 

present in the courtroom.  Would you find it difficult for any reason to obey that instruction?  

5. The jury will be instructed that throughout the proceedings in this case, the jurors 

should take steps to avoid reading or hearing anything about this case in the news or on the internet. 

Again, all of us are counting on you to consider this case based solely on the testimony that you 

have heard and the evidence that has been introduced and not on the reports or opinions expressed 

about the case by others.  Would you find it difficult for any reason to obey that instruction? 

6. If you are selected as a juror in this case, would it be difficult for you to disregard any 

ideas, notions or beliefs about the law that you may hold and render a verdict based solely on the 

testimony of witnesses, exhibits and documents admitted into evidence and the law as the Court 

will instruct you? 

7. If it should come to pass, after you have heard all the evidence, the arguments of the 

lawyers, and my instructions in the law - if you are then persuaded by the trial itself that a 

defendant is guilty of a charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt, then it would be your duty to 

vote guilty.  Is there anyone who feels that they would be unable to carry out that duty? 

8. On the other hand, if after you have heard all the evidence, the arguments of the 

lawyers, and my instructions in the law, you then have a reasonable doubt as to a defendant’s guilt 
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of a charge, then you must vote not guilty.  Is there anyone who feels that they could not carry out 

this responsibility?  

9. The defendants in this case are: 

 Pankesh Patel -- Mr. Patel is a citizen of the United Kingdom and was associated 

with a company known as Quartermaster’s Ltd. 

 John B. Wier, III – Mr. Wier is from St. Petersburg, Florida and was associated 

with a company known as SRT Supply, Inc. 

 Andrew Bigelow – Mr. Bigelow is from Sarasota, Florida area and was associated 

with a company known as The Gun Search.com, LLC. 

 Lee Allen Tolleson – Mr. Tolleson is from Mountain Home, Arkansas and was 

associated with a company known as ALS Technologies. 

Do any of you know, or have you had any contact, either social or professional, with any of the 

defendants in this case? 

10. Have you, or any member of your immediate family, or any close friends, to your 

knowledge, had any contact, either social or professional, with the defendants whom I have just 

introduced to you. 

11. The defendants I just introduced to you are represented by a number of different 

attorneys.   

 Mr. Patel is represented by Eric B. Bruce and Matthew I. Menchel of the law firm, 

Kobre and Kim.  (stand).    

 Mr. Wier is represented by Todd A. Foster and Michael L. Rubinstein of the law 

firm, Cohen, Foster & Romine.  (stand).      
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 Mr. Bigelow is represented by Lawrence A. Jacobs and Connie Mederos-Jacobs of 

the Law Offices of Lawrence Jacobs and Connie Mederos-Jacobs.  (stand).    

 And Mr. Tolleson is represented by Dee Wampler and Joseph Passanise of the Law 

Offices of Dee Wampler and Joseph Passanise.  (stand).    

Do any of you know, or have you had any contact, either social or professional, with the attorneys 

whom I have just introduced to you. 

12. Have you, or any member of your immediate family, had any contact, either social or 

professional, to your knowledge, with the attorneys whom I have just introduced to you. 

13. In this the government is represented by Department of Justice attorneys Joey 

Lipton, Laura N. Perkins, and Assistant United States Attorney Jonathan W. Haray, prosecutors 

from the Department of Justice Criminal Division and the Office of the United States Attorney for 

the District of Columbia.   (stand).     Do any of you know, or have you had any contact, either 

social or professional, with Mr. Lipton, Mr. Haray or Ms. Perkins. 

14. Have you, or any member of your immediate family, had any contact, either social or 

professional, to your knowledge, with Mr. Lipton, Mr. Haray or Ms. Perkins. 

15. The following is a partial list of the persons who may be called as witnesses in this 

case.  Do you, to your knowledge, have any personal, family, or business connection of any sort 

with any of these individuals?  (Read list) 

16. Have you, or has any member of your family or close friend or relative, ever been the 

victim of, or witness to a crime, whether or not that crime was reported to law enforcement 

authorities? 
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17. Have you, or has any member of your family or close friend or relative, ever been 

accused of, arrested for, or charged with a crime? 

18. Apart from your jury service, have you ever been involved in any legal proceeding, in 

any capacity, for example as a plaintiff, defendant, victim, lawyer, witness, or expert? 

19. Have any of your experiences caused you to form an opinion about the criminal 

justice system? 

20. Have you ever served as a juror at a trial before?  [If yes, was it a civil or a criminal 

trial?  Without telling us the verdict, was a verdict reached in that case?] 

21. Have you ever served as a juror on a grand jury? 

22. Have you, or any members of your family, ever been employed by any law 

enforcement agency, such as: a police department, sheriff’s department, constable’s office, the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), the Bureau of 

Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF), the U.S. Marshal’s Service, the U.S. Park Police, a United 

States Attorney’s Office, the United States Department of Justice, a District or State’s Attorney’s 

Office, a probation or parole office, the Bureau of Prisons, or any other state, local or federal law 

enforcement agency or private security force? 

23. Have you or your spouse or companion ever served in the armed forces? 

24. Have you, or any members of your family, ever been employed by the United States 

government, including any department or agency of the United States government? 

25. Have you, or any members of your family, ever been a member of a group that 

opposes individual possession of firearms?  [If yes, inquire whether that will prevent the juror from 

being a fair and impartial juror.] 
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26. Have you, or any members of your family, now or in the past owned a small 

business? 

27. Would you be inclined to give more weight to the testimony of a law enforcement 

officer than you would to that of other witnesses?   

28. Have you, or any member of your immediate family, ever worked in the legal 

profession, either as a lawyer, paralegal, or in a law office, including a prosecutor’s or public 

defender’s office? 

29. Have you, or any member of your immediate family, had any legal training, including 

law courses, paralegal programs or on-the-job training? 

30. Do you have supervisory responsibility at work?  [If yes, please have juror explain.] 
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Statement of the Case 

The indictment in this case charges each of the four defendants with violating several federal 

laws including (1) conspiring to violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, (2) violating the  

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act itself and (3) conspiring to commit money laundering.  The Foreign 

Corrupt Practices Act is the name for a federal law that makes it a crime to make payments to 

foreign government officials under certain circumstances, which I will describe to you in much more 

detail later.  Generally speaking, in this indictment, the government alleges that these four 

defendants were part of a larger conspiracy in which they made a payment to a third person 

knowing that a portion of that money was going to be paid to a foreign government official for the 

purpose of assisting the defendant in obtaining or retaining business.  As I said before, this is only 

an allegation and the defendants are presumed innocent until and unless proven guilty beyond a 

reasonable doubt at trial. 

With respect to the charge of  Conspiracy to violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the 

government alleges that from in or about May 2009, through in or about January 2010, in the 

District of Columbia, and elsewhere, the defendants did unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly 

conspire, confederate and agree together and with each other and others to commit offenses against 

the United States, that is, to willfully use the mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, and the authorization of the 

payment of any money, and offer, give, promise to give, and authorizing of the giving of anything of 

value to any foreign official and any person, while knowing that a portion of such money or thing of 

value will be offered, given, promised, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official for purposes of: 

(i) influencing the acts and decisions of such foreign official in his official capacity; (ii) inducing 
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such foreign official to do and omit to do acts in violation of the lawful duties of such official;  

(iii) securing an improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign official to use his influence 

with a foreign government and instrumentalities thereof to affect and influence acts and decisions of 

such government and instrumentalities thereof, in order to assist themselves, their associated 

companies, and their conspirators in obtaining and retaining business, in violation of the FCPA, 

Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-l(a), 78dd-2(a), and 78dd-3(a). 

With respect to the charge of violating the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the government 

alleges that the defendants, in the District of Columbia, and elsewhere, willfully made use of, and 

aided, abetted, and caused others to make use of, the mails and means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, and the 

authorization of the payment of any money, and offer, gift, promise to give, and authorization of the 

giving of anything of value to a foreign official or to any person, while knowing that all or a portion 

of such money or thing of value would be offered, given or promised, directly or indirectly, to a 

foreign official for the purposes of: (i) influencing the acts and decisions of such foreign official in 

his official capacity; (ii) inducing such foreign official to do and omit to do acts in violation of the 

lawful duties of such official; (iii) securing an improper advantage; and (iv) inducing such foreign 

official to use his influence with a foreign government and instrumentalities thereof to affect and 

influence acts and decisions of such government and instrumentalities thereof, in order to assist 

themselves, their associated companies, and their conspirators in obtaining and retaining business 

in violation of the FCPA. 

With respect to the charge of money laundering, the government alleges that from in or 

about May 2009, through in or about January 2010, in the District of Columbia, and elsewhere, the 
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defendants did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and 

knowingly combine, conspire, and agree with each other and with other persons, known and 

unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States as follows: 

a.  to transport, transmit, and transfer a monetary instrument and funds from a 

place in the United States to and through a place outside the United States, 

with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity,  

b. to conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction involving property 

represented to be the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, or property 

used to conduct or facilitate specified unlawful activity, with the intent to 

promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity,  

c. to knowingly engage in a monetary transaction by, through and to a financial 

institution, affecting interstate and foreign commerce, in criminal]y derived 

property of a value greater than $10,000, such property having been derived 

from specified unlawful activity. 

31. Is there anything about the nature of these charges that would make it difficult for 

you to be an impartial and fair juror? 

32. Have you seen or heard anything – on the radio or television, in newspapers or 

magazines, or on the internet, about any of the defendants or about this case? [If yes, the defendants 

request that the court ask the juror to recount, outside of the presence of the other jurors, everything 

the prospective juror remembers seeing or hearing about this case.  They also request that the court 

inquire as to what the source or sources were for the information (i.e., newspaper, television, radio, 

or internet), which particular news outlets, or websites were involved, and whether the juror has 
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formed any opinions about the case as a result of what he or she has heard, in addition to any other 

appropriate follow-up questions.] 

33. Have you heard anything from any other person about this case even if you did not 

personally hear or read anything in the media? [If yes, the defendants request that the court inquire 

as to what the juror may have heard, who the juror heard it from, and whether the juror has formed 

any opinions about the case as a result of what he has heard.] 

34. Have you ever heard or read any news coverage about investigations related to 

allegations involving the bribery of foreign officials?  [If yes, the defendants request that the court 

inquire, outside of the presence of other jurors, what the prospective juror remembers seeing or 

hearing about other investigations, what the source was for the information (i.e., newspaper, 

television, internet, etc.), and whether the juror has formed any opinions as a result of what he or 

she has heard, in addition to any other appropriate follow-up questions.] 

35. Have you ever heard of, or do you have any familiarity with, the Foreign Corrupt 

Practices Act?  [If yes, the defendants request that the court inquire, outside of the presence of other 

jurors, what the prospective juror knows about the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and, what the 

source was for his or her knowledge (i.e., professional background, media coverage, internet, etc.), 

and whether the juror has formed any opinions as a result of what he or she has heard, in addition to 

any other appropriate follow-up questions.] 

36. Have you ever lived abroad?  [If yes, where, when and for how long?]  

37. Have you ever heard of the nation of Gabon?  [If yes, have you ever visited or had 

any interaction with that country?] 
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38. Are you personally involved in any type of business that conducts transactions with 

foreign governments or in foreign countries?   [If yes, the defendants request that the court inquire, 

outside of the presence of other jurors, what type of business the prospective juror is involved in 

and what type of transactions are conducted with foreign governments or foreign entities and 

whether the juror has formed any opinions as a result of what these experiences.] 

39. Do you have a family member or close friend who is involved in any type of business 

that conducts transactions with foreign governments or in foreign countries?  [If yes, the defendants 

request that the court inquire, outside of the presence of other jurors, what type of business the 

family member or friend of the prospective juror is involved in and what type of transactions are 

conducted with foreign governments or foreign entities and whether the juror has formed any 

opinions as a result of what these experiences.] 

40. Are you personally or any of your family members involved in any type of business 

that involves the sale of any goods or services?  [If the juror answers in the affirmative, ask what 

type of business the prospective juror is involved in and whether the juror is familiar with 

commissions and mark ups.] 

41. The defendants in this case were involved in businesses that sold various types of 

military equipment and supplies, including firearms, to foreign government entities.  Is there 

anything about the nature of this type of business that would make it difficult for you to be an 

impartial and fair juror? 

42. Have you or a family member ever belonged to or contributed to an organization 

opposed to the individual possession of firearms?  If yes, would that prevent you from being fair 

and impartial in this case? 
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43. One of the defendants in this case, Pankesh Patel, is a British citizen and of Indian 

descent.  Does anybody here harbor any bias against either British citizens or people of Indian 

heritage such that it would prevent them from being fair and impartial in this case? 

44. If you are selected as a juror in this case, would it be difficult for you to disregard any 

ideas, notions or beliefs about the law that you may hold and render a verdict based solely on the 

testimony of witnesses, exhibits and documents admitted into evidence and the law as the Court 

will instruct you? 

45. To reach a verdict, every juror must agree on the verdict.  That is, any verdict must be 

unanimous.  In deliberations you must consider the opinions and points of your fellow jurors.  In 

the final analysis, however, you must follow your own conscience and be personally satisfied with 

any verdict.  Would any of you have difficulty expressing your own opinions and thoughts about 

this case to your fellow jurors? 

46. Do you suffer from any physical or mental condition(s) that would affect your ability 

to pay close and careful attention to the evidence presented and to render an impartial verdict? 

47. Do you have any difficult speaking, understanding, reading, or writing the English 

language? 

48. This trial is expected to last a minimum of three weeks and could possibly run longer. 

 In this respect, you should know that it is unlawful for an employer to discharge, threaten to 

discharge, intimidate, or coerce any permanent employee because of the employee’s jury service.  

Given this, is there any truly special circumstance that would preclude you from serving on this 

jury? 
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49. Is there anything about the nature of this case or about any of the questions you 

have been asked that suggest to you that you will not be able to sit as a fair and impartial juror 

and render a fair and impartial verdict in this matter? 

50. Do you know of any other reason we have not discussed why you cannot sit as a juror 

in this case and fairly and impartially judge the evidence in this case and apply the law as instructed 

by the Court? 
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Respectfully submitted,    
 
By: _/s/ Eric B. Bruce_______________ 
Eric B. Bruce (453444) 
Kobre & Kim LLP 
1919 M Street N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20036 
Phone: + 1 202 664 1903 
Fax: +1 202 664 1923 
Email: eric.bruce@kobrekim.com 
   
Matthew I. Menchel (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
2 South Biscayne Boulevard, 35th Floor 
Miami, Florida 33131 
Phone: +1 305 967 6108 
Fax: +1 305 967 6128 
Email: matthew.menchel@kobrekim.com 
 
David H. McGill (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
800 Third Avenue 
New York, N.Y. 10022 
Phone: +1 212 488 1242 
Fax: +1 212 488 1223 
Email: david.mcgill@kobrekim.com 
 
Attorneys for Pankesh Patel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
By: _/s/ _______________ 
Lawrence A. Jacobs 
Lawrence A. Jacobs P.A.  
543 10 Street West 
Bradenton, FL 34205 
Phone: (941) 746-6800 
Fax: (941) 749-0437 
Email: lajesq@aol.com 
 
Attorney for Andrew Bigelow 
 
By: _/s/ _______________ 
Todd A. Foster (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
Michael L. Rubinstein (Admitted Pro Hac 
Vice) 
Cohen Foster & Romine P.A.  
201 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 1000 
Tampa, FL 33602 
Phone: (813) 225-1655 
Fax: (813) 225-1921 
Email: tfoster@tampalawfirm.com 
Email: mrubinstein@tampalawfirm.com  
 
Attorneys for John Benson Wier, III 
 
By: _/s/ _______________ 
Joseph S. Passanise (Admitted Pro Hac 
Vice) 
Dee Wampler (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)  
2974 E. Battlefield 
The Law Offices of Dee Wampler and 
Joseph Passanise 
Springfield, MO 65804 
Phone: (417) 882-9300 
Fax: (417) 882-9310 
Email: joe@entrapped.com 
Email: dee@deewampler.com 
 
Attorneys for Lee Allen Tolleson
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on this 19th day of April, 2011, the above Defendants Patel, Wier, 

Bigelow and Tolleson’s Proposed Voir Dire Questions were served electronically via the District 

Court’s electronic filing system on all counsel of record. 

 

/s/ Eric B. Bruce    
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